IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,765

:

:

:

:

ELWOOD C. BARCLAY, : : Appellant. v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

•

FILED S'D J. WHITE FEB 27 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By_JU Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, R. HUDSON OLLIFF, JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TALBOT D'ALEMBERTE STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS 1400 Southeast Bank Building Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 577-2816

JAMES M. NABRIT, III 99 Hudson Street New York, NY 10013 (212) 219-1900

1027D

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,765

ELWOOD C. BARCLAY,

Appellant.

:

:

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal arises out of a trial of Elwood Barclay, and three co-defendants, all charged with first degree murder for the death of Stephen A. Orlando. Also tried with Elwood Barclay were Jacob Dougan, Dwyne Crittendon and Brad Evans. A fifth young black man, William Hearn, pled to second degree murder and was the State's principal witness at trial.

The Homicide as Described By Hearn. William Hearn, knew the four defendants from a karate class taught by Dougan. A. E114. On Sunday, June 16, 1974, Hearn was playing basketball with Crittendon, Evans and Barclay. A. E115-117. Dougan arrived and asked Hearn if he had his gun with him, because Dougan wanted "to go out and scare some people." A. E116. Dougan said he was willing to do it by himself, but that it would be better if they all went together. When Hearn asked what it was they were going to do, Dougan said he'd tell them later. A. E117. Dougan instructed them all to go home and change into dark clothes. A. E117-118.

The five met again at Barclay's house about an hour later, around 8:00 or 8:30 in the evening. A. E119. As instructed, Hearn brought a .22 caliber pistol, which he gave to Dougan. A. E119, 121. Barclay had a "small pocketknife." A. E120. The five got into Hearn's two-door car with Hearn driving, Crittendon in the front passenger seat, and the rest in the back seat. Dougan said he would instruct them where to go and what to do. A. E121, 124.

After driving for a short time, Dougan instructed Hearn to stop the car under a street light. Hearn did, and Dougan wrote out a note. Dougan read the note to the group and passed it around. Hearn asked again what they were going to do, and Dougan again replied he would tell them later. He told Hearn to drive on and Hearn did so. Dougan continued to direct the route until they arrived at a monument. There Dougan announced that they would "catch a white devil and kill him and leave the note on him." A. E122-124.

For the next couple of hours, the five drove around Jacksonville, looking unsuccessfully for an isolated person in an isolated area. A. E126-128. Dougan directed the movements of the group. Finally the group headed to Jacksonville Beach, arriving about 10:30 p.m. There they saw Orlando, a young white man, hitchhiking by the side of the road. Hearn stopped the car, and Orlando entered the car and sat between Dougan and Evans in the back seat. A. E133. The car headed south. Orlando told the group his name, and they each told him their names. Orlando asked them if they "smoked reefer" (marijuana). Dougan replied that they did, and asked Orlando if he had any with him. Orlando said he did not, but could get them some from a house on 12th Street. A. E133. When they got to 12th Street, Dougan told Hearn to drive past the street and keep going straight. Hearn did. A. E134. Dougan directed the route again. A police car passed by, and Orlando said, "That pig sure is watching us close." Someone asked him if he disliked police officers, and he replied, "Well, my father's one." Dougan then told Orlando that he was taking him to meet a black girl who could give him some drugs. A. E135. As they approached a road, Dougan announced they were getting close to where the girl lived. A. E140. They turned, then turned again down

a dirt road. Dougan told Hearn to stop the car. He did. A. E143.*/

Hearn opened the door on the driver's side and held his seat back but did not leave the car. Crittendon opened the door on the passenger side, got out, and held the seat back. Barclay got out on Hearn's side, Dougan on Crittendon's. As Dougan got out he said, "This is it, sucker, get out." Orlando got out behind Dougan and broke to run. A. E144. Dougan hit Orlando in the back with the gun. A. E145. Hearn, who remained in the driver's seat throughout the incident, said Barclay, who apparently had moved around the car, then grabbed Orlando. Evans got out of the car and stood behind Dougan; Orlando was standing between Dougan and Barclay. A. E147. Hearn watched from the front seat of the car, looking back over his shoulder through the back window. A. E146. He saw Dougan put his hand on Orlando's back and jerk it, throwing Orlando to the ground. A. E148. Hearn said Barclay "started stabbing" Orlando, who offered to given them a "bag of reefer." Id. Hearn said Barclay stabbed Orlando more than once, although Hearn could not say how many times.

Dougan told Barclay to move back, and then fired the gun twice. Id. Dougan pulled the gun up, shook it, and tried to fire again but the gun wouldn't go off. A. E149. Evans moved up

 $[\]pm$ / The original sentencing order stated that Orlando was driven to the scene of the homicide "[a]against his will and over his protest". There is simply no evidence in the record to support such a finding. The only evidence of Orlando's statements or actions during the car ride comes from Hearn's testimony (A. E133-142), and the entire substance of those statements and actions had been described in our text above. The judge and the prosecutor agreed that Orlando had entered the car voluntarily (A. E179), and the prosecutor acknowledged during his closing argument to the jury that Orlando's first reaction of "protest" occurred after the car stopped and Dougan ordered Orlando to step outside. A. E205.

close, went down toward the body a couple of times, and then stood up with the note in his hand. Barclay took the note, went down toward the body with it, and then Evans, Dougan and Barclay returned to the car. A. E150. The car returned to Barclay's house. A. E151.

Other Evidence. On Monday, June 17, 1974, the body of eighteen-year-old Stephen A. Orlando was discovered. Tr. 169. The cause of death was a bullet which entered the left ear. A. E29, 31. Orlando also sustained another bullet wound in the cheek, and several superficial stab wounds. A. E29. A note was found under a small pocketknife lying on his stomach. Tr. 317-18, 321, 324. The note stated that "the revolution" had begun and that the "atrocities and brutalizing" of black people by the "oppressive state" would no longer go "unpunished." The note was signed, "The Black Revolutionary Army. All power to the people."

The Tapes. Hearn next saw the others on Tuesday at the karate class. Dougan told Hearn to bring his car the following day because there would be a meeting at the house of another member of the karate class, James Mattison. Tr. 1396. Wednesday evening after the class, Hearn, Dougan, Crittendon, Evans and Barclay and three other karate students (Otis Bess, Edred Black and James Mattison) met at Mattison's house. Tr. 1397. There Crittendon, Evans, Dougan and Barclay discussed the murder. Dougan brought a tape recorder and suggested that everyone present make tapes. No one disagreed. Tr. 1399. Dougan then wrote out a script for each person to read into the microphone. A. E155. Barclay suggested some additions to Dougan's script. A. E156.

Hearn testified that all the tapes made that night referred to the killing, and that he personally saw Black, Dougan and Barclay

-4-

making tapes. Tr. 1399, A. E156. He said that although the taped messages depicted Orlando as begging for mercy, Orlando never had. This was added only to "make it seem more aggressive." A. E156.

Black, Bess and Mattison also testified for the State. Each admitted being present while the tapes were made, and Black and Mattison admitted making tapes themselves, similar in all respects to those made by Barclay and Dougan. A. E54, E56, E92. The three men each denied any direct knowledge of Orlando's death. Black and Mattison claimed to have made the tapes from a script prepared by Dougan. A. E58, E60, E92. They corroborated Hearn's testimony that Dougan was the person who suggested making the tapes, brought the tape recorder, and directed the production of the tapes and mailed them. Tr. 938, A. E55, Tr. 958-59, Tr. 986, A. E84-85, Tr. 1160, A. E91, E98, Tr. 1283, Tr. 1307. Five of the tapes -- only those allegedly recorded by Barclay and Dougan -- were introduced into evidence and played for the jury. Tr. 1009, A. E61-82.

Black testified to incriminating statements made by Crittendon (A. E88), Evans (A. E88, E93), Dougan (A. E92) and Barclay (A. E93). These statements indicated that Evans stabbed Orlando, and that Barclay took the knife from Evans after Orlando was shot. A. E89, E93, E101-102. Bess corroborated the testimony to some extent. A. E101, E102, Tr. 1287. An expert for the State testified that the note found on Orlando's body was written by Dougan. Tr. 1112. Another testified that a cartridge case found by the body was fired from Hearn's gun. Tr. 1550.

Crittendon, Dougan, Evans and Barclay each took the stand. Crittendon, Dougan and Barclay admitted having made the tapes, but

-5-

claimed they did so at Mattison's urging and direction. Tr. 1608, 1616, 1782, 1805, A. E171. All four denied complicity in the homicide. Tr. 1607, 1609, 1789, 1817, A. E171. Barclay said he worked for Standard Feed as a truck driver in July 1974. A. E173.

Jury Instructions and Verdict. The trial judge called counsel into chambers to discuss the charge to the jury. It was at first agreed by all counsel and the judge that no felony-murder charge would be given because of a lack of any basis in the record for such a charge. A. E178-79, E184-85. However, when the court later brought up murder in the third degree -- defined as murder in the course of a felony not enumerated in the first and second degree felony-murder provisions -- defense counsel were unwilling to waive a charge on that lesser included offense. A. E190, E199. The state attorney insisted that the felony-murder provisions of first and second degree murder be charged as well, assertedly, to avoid confusing the jury; and the trial judge ultimately agreed. A. E191, E199. The jury was instructed on both premeditated and felony-murder. A. C25.

The jury found Dougan and Barclay guilty of first degree murder. Crittendon and Evans were convicted of second degree murder.

The Sentencing Trial. At the sentencing hearing, Dougan produced several witnesses to testify to his good character. S.T. 59, 61, 64, 66, 70. No additional testimony was presented on Barclay's behalf. The State then brought Hearn back to testify about a second homicide -- the murder of Stephen Roberts. The Roberts murder was committed by Crittendon and Evans at Dougan's direction, with Hearn once again acting as driver and observer on June 21, 1974. A. F37-60. Barclay was not charged in the second homicide, and was unquestionably out of town when it occurred. A. F59-60. But

-6-

during direct examination Hearn mistakenly mentioned "Elwood" as one of those present during the planning of the Roberts murder. A. F40. On cross examination Hearn said that Barclay was not present. A. F59-60. The state offered no further evidence about Barclay. The state played the tapes (which the jury had already heard twice) and argued that the crime was "heinous, atrocious or cruel," disdaining reliance on any other statutory aggravating factor. A. F69.2

During closing argument, Barclay's attorney informed the jury that Barclay was twenty-three years old, married and the father of five children. A. F75. He said Barclay was not involved in the Roberts murder. He highlighted the disparity in treatment of Hearn, Crittendon and Evans -- all who had participated in <u>both</u> the Orlando and Roberts murders -- who would be eligible for parole immediately, while a life sentence would make Barclay (secondary role in one murder) ineligible for parole until he was forty-eight years old. A. F77. He argued that Barclay was a follower, not a leader, and that he acted under the domination of another. A. F76.

Seven jurors signed a written verdict that life imprisonment was appropriate for Barclay. The jury recommended death for Dougan. A. F78-79. The trial judge ordered a presentence investigation. S.T. 181. On April 10, 1975, he imposed death sentences on Barclay and Dougan, despite the jury's verdict of life for Barclay, issuing a single order applicable to both young men. A. A1-31.

<u>Resentencing in 1980</u>. This Court subsequently affirmed and later (post-<u>Gardner</u>) vacated the death sentences imposed on Barclay and Dougan. A resentencing hearing was held before the trial judge in 1979. Counsel for Barclay argued that the original sentencing order

-7-

contained a number of errors, including the finding of non-statutory aggravating circumstances. R.T. 56-94. The judge reimposed the death sentence on April 18, 1980. A. B1-35. The 1980 sentencing order was similar to the original order, with two important exceptions: First, the finding that the murder was committed in the course of a kidnapping was changed. The 1980 order relies upon the definition of kidnapping in Fla. Stat. § 787.01, which took effect October 1, 1975, more than a year after the crime. A. B25-26. Second, Judge Olliff amended the finding on "great risk of death to many persons" to delete a prior reference to a note found on the victim's body. A. B24-25. The new sentence was affirmed in 1981.

On January 19, 1984, this Court granted a Writ of Habeas Corpus allowing Barclay a new direct appeal. <u>Barclay v. Wainwright</u>, 9 F.L.W. 32.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

THE APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE SHOULD BE REVERSED.

A. The Jury Recommendation of Life Imprisonment Was Improperly Disregarded By The Trial Court.

1. The Jury Recommendation.

On March 5, 1975 seven jurors at Barclay's trial signed a verdict:

We, a majority of the jury, rendering an advisory sentence to the Court as to whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or to life imprisonment, find:

 Sufficient aggravating circumstances do not exist to justify a sentence of death.

- 2. Sufficient mitigating circumstances do exist, which outweigh any aggravating circumstances, to justify a sentence of life imprisonment rather than a sentence of death.
- Based on those considerations, the defendant should be sentenced to life imprisonment. A. C39.

2. Trial Judge Disregards Life Recommendation.

The April 10, 1975 sentencing order made only a single reference to the jury finding:

In its advisory sentence the Jury recommended life imprisonment for Barclay by the barest majority of seven to five. The Court does not feel bound by the advisory sentence as to the defendant Barclay because of the closeness of the vote and because of his major participation in the murder. A. A9.

The order did not address the reasonableness of the jury findings. The 1980 order resentencing Barclay similarly contains no such discussion, and no citation to <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). The trial took place before <u>Tedder</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the judge did not anticipate its rule. He said quite bluntly that sentencing was "the function of the judge of this Court and not the function of the jury."*/

^{*/} The judge told the venire: "The advisory sentence may be by the majority of the jury, and the judge then sentences the defendant, or any of them, to life imprisonment or to death. The judge is not required to follow the advice of the jury in the advisory sentence; thus, the jury does not impose the punishment if there is a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree. The imposition of any punishment or sentence is the function of the judge of this Court and not the function of the jury." VT. 7-8; see VT. 13-14 (same); VT. 502-03. In his guilt phase instructions" "The Judge is not required to follow the advice of the jury." A. C32-33. The penalty phase instructions: "This Court is not required to follow your recommendation." A. C36.

3. The Court Did Not Give Proper Weight To The Jury Findings And Recommendation.

Florida's capital sentencing law as construed since Tedder v. State, supra, requires that the judge follow a jury recommendation for life imprisonment unless "the facts suggesting a sentence of death" are so "clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ." Id. at 910. See cases collected in Walsh v. State, 418 So.2d 1000, 1003-1004 (Fla. 1982). As stated recently in Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091, 1095 (Fla. 1983), "a jury's advisory opinion is entitled to great weight, reflecting as it does the conscience of the community, and should not be overruled unless no reasonable basis exists for the opinion." The Court does not "countenance the denigration of the jury's role." Id. The record in a case should be viewed objectively to determine whether the jury could have been influenced by legitimate sentencing factors in making its recommendation. McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072, 1075-76 (Fla. 1982). Even where a judge makes fact findings that are "within his domain as the trier of fact", it is still necessary to examine the record to determine whether the jury's giving different "credence to ... [the] testimony than the trial judge" is a permissible and reasonable application of the aggravating and mitigating factors. Cannady v. State, 427 So.2d 723, 731 (Fla. 1983). Thus it is not enough for the court to decide if there is a factual basis for the judge's findings; it must also decide whether there is a rational basis for the jury findings. Cannady, supra; Hawkins v. State, 436 So.2d 44, 47 (Fla. 1983); Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44, 48 (Fla. 1983) (Boyd, J. "We do not find the remaining

-10-

aggravating circumstances are of such grave nature that virtually no reasonable person could differ . . .").

Judge Olliff's rejection of the jury verdict because of the close 7-5 vote is not permissible under <u>Tedder</u>. This Court has held that "it is not material what number of the majority of the jury recommends a sentence of death or recommends a sentence of life." <u>Dobbert</u> <u>v. State</u>, 409 So.2d 1053, 1057-58 (Fla. 1982). The validity of the jury decision should depend on the facts and not the size of the vote.

At pages 12-41 below, we examine each aggravating and mitigating circumstance at issue in this case, and show either that Judge Olliff's findings are unsupportable or that contrary jury findings are thoroughly supportable or both. But even on the face of the sentencing order, Judge Olliff has singularly failed to state or demonstrate a sufficient basis under <u>Tedder</u> for disregarding the jury's advisory verdict of life imprisonment. That verdict scrupulously distinguished between the degree of Dougan's culpability and Barclay's.*/ Judge Olliff concluded that Barclay was a major participant, but he did not, and could not rule that there were not differences between Barclay's role and Dougan's. The jury decision finding vital differences between their roles was entirely reasonable and supported by the evidence. See page 41, infra.

The <u>Tedder</u> rule seeks to preserve the citizens' historic role in the life-death decision making process. Juries of 12 citizens better represent the community conscience than does a single judge.

 $[\]pm'$ The jury also distinguished between Barclay's role and that of Hearn, Evans and Crittendon. At sentencing, the State chose to prove the involvement of these three in a second murder, the Roberts murder, with which Barclay was simply not involved.

Florida provides no peremptory challenge of a Judge who repeatedly overrides jury verdicts against the death penalty and never finds a single mitigating circumstance applicable to the defendants he sentences to death. The defendant can challenge the one percent of jurors who would vote for death in every first degree murder case. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 371, 374-376 (Fla. 1981); <u>Grigsby v. Mabry</u>, 569 F.Supp. 1273, 1307 (E.D. Ark. 1983). The <u>Tedder</u> rule is the only protection against an "automatic death penalty" judge.

4. Constitutional Challenge to the Jury Override.

Appellant preserves the objections that a trial judge's override of a jury verdict against the death penalty violates the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States.*/

- B. Sufficient Aggravating Circumstances Do Not Exist To Justify The Death Sentence.
 - Whether the "defendant knowingly created a great risk of <u>death to many persons.</u>" Fla. Stat. §921.141(5)(c).
 - a. The Trial Court Finding Is In Error.

The trial court concluded that Barclay and the other defendants "created a great risk of death to others, <u>before</u>, <u>during</u>

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