IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELWOOD C. BARCLAY,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 64,765

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.



ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General

WALLACE E. ALLBRITTON Assistant Attorney General

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8048 (904)488-0290

# TOPICAL

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

#### ISSUE V

## FLORIDA'S MURDER AND CAPITAL-SENTENCING STATUTES ARE CONSTITUTIONAL AND WERE CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO APPELLANT.

Appellant contends that Florida's murder and capital sentencing statutes are unconstitutional as applied to him because of the alleged failure of the trial judge to instruct on the distinction between principals in the first and second degree and accessories before the fact. The short answer to this contention is that no such instruction was requested. <u>Williams</u> <u>v. State</u>, 247 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1971); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 124 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1960); Rule 3.390, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

The precise basis on which appellant bases his claim of unconstitutionality was rejected in <u>Alford v. State</u>, 307 So.2d 433 (1975), citing <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973);

- 45 -

Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>, 449 U.S. 913. Indeed, this issue was raised and rejected on appellant's initial appeal. <u>Barclay</u>, 343 So.2d, at 1269.

Before actually instructing the jury, the trial judge read his instructions in their entirety to defense counsel (Tr. 2099, line 19--2135, line 3). The instruction treating the distinction between principals of the first and second degree and accessory before the fact is just about as clear as the English language can make it (Tr. 2112, line 27--2113, line 14). The trial judge instructed on murder in the first degree (Tr. 2117, line 21--2118, line 3), and then murder in the second degree (Tr. 2119, line 22--2120, line 7), the distinction between the two degrees being the absence of premeditation in second degree murder. The distinction was again emphasized later in the instructions (Tr. 2124, line 20--2135, line 13). Thus, premeditation vel non was the anvil for the jury to distinguish between first and second degree murder. Please note that the trial judge specifically instructed that the defendants were not on trial for any act or conduct not charged in the indictment or included within the lesser offenses, and that the jury must consider the evidence only as it related to "these charges" (Tr. 2133, lines 17-22). As noted earlier, none of defense counsel had any objection to the instructions as read by the trial judge (Tr. 2136). The instructions given the jury were identical to those previously heard and approved by all defense counsel (Tr. 2213-2241).

Appellant's trial counsel had no objections to the instructions given and agreed that they were the same charges that had been agreed upon "just before the lunch recess." (Tr. 2244, lines 9--16) After the jury foreperson had been elected, the trial judge then explained the verdict forms to the jury (Tr. 2246, line 19--2248, line 10). The jury retired to deliberate on its verdict at 5:45 p.m. on March 3, 1975 (Tr. 2249). At 8:45 p.m., the jury requested to play the tape "on Mr. Barclay." (Tr. 2252, 2257) The jury foreperson also requested the trial judge to repeat the definitions of first and second degree murder (Tr. 2259). It was agreed that the trial judge should "read the whole charge" (Tr. 2262). This was done (Tr. 2274, line 15--2282, line 22).

The contention is made that the statute is unconstitutional because it "left Barclay's jury absolute and uncontrolled discretion to find either first or second murder on the same facts." (Appellant's brief, p. 50) Appellee answers that if the jury had not had unfettered discretion to find either first or second degree murder on the same facts, then appellant may have had cause for complaint.

Next it is complained that the trial judge erred in the penalty phase instructions because of failure to define "heinous, atrocious or cruel or any other listed circumstance," citing <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1976). First, it is obvious that <u>Cooper</u> was decided subsequent to appellant's trial

- 47 -

and the trial judge did not have the benefit thereof. Secondly, the only objection registered by appellant was to the verdict form (Post-Tr.Vol.I, p. 177). This issue, even if it were meritorious, could not now be raised for the first time on appeal. Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982).

But there was no error. Six witnesses were called to testify at the penalty hearing, five by the defense and one by the prosecution, the indictment for the Roberts' murder was read, and the tapes made by appellant and Dougan were played (Post-Tr.Vol.I, p. 58-111). This was all of the evidence offered and this was the evidence that the trial judge deemed to have at least some probative value. The trial judge instructed the jury that they should consider only the evidence "the Court deems to have probative value and also the following" (Post-Tr.Vol.I, p. 170, line 24--171, line 1). The trial judge then went on to read the mitigating and aggravating circumstances listed in the statute. Of course, the jury had already heard the facts surrounding the murder at the guilt-innocence phase of the trial. It is submitted that there is nothing vague about the aggravating circumstance "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel" and the trial judge did not err in not attempting to further describe words of plain meaning, particularly in the absence of a request so to do. In State v. Dixon, supra, the court in commenting on this particular aggravating circumstance noted:

Again, we feel that the meaning of such terms is a matter of common knowledge, so that an ordinary man would not have to guess at what was intended.

<u>Id.</u> at 283 So.2d 9. The court did go on to state its conception as to what those terms meant but did not say or intimate that a trial judge had to do other than read the enumerated mitigating and aggravating circumstances so that the jury could determine an advisory verdict based on the evidence adduced at the penalty phase of the trial. The recent decision of the Eleventh Circuit in <u>Westbrook v. Zant</u>, 704 F.2d 1487 (11th Cir. 1983), <u>rev'd on</u> <u>other grounds</u>, is informative. The court had occasion to treat the identical issue appellant raises <u>sub judice</u>, <u>i.e.</u>, failure to define statutory aggravating circumstances. Please note:

> Westbrook's first challenge to the instructions--failure to define statutory aggravating circumstances--is unsupportable. The instructions indicate that the court charged the jury on the application of Ga.Code Ann. § 17-10-30(b). That statutory provision states the aggravating circumstances which may be considered by the jury if supported by the evidence. The court read those statutory aggravating circumstances applicable to the evidence in the case, relied upon by the state in seeking the death penalty, and made known to Westbrook prior to trial. Under the facts in this case, the trial court was required to do no more regarding circumstances than to repeat the exact statutory language. [Emphasis ours.]

<u>Id.</u> at 1501. (Footnotes omitted) <u>Westbrook</u> was expressly reaffirmed in <u>Moore v. Zant</u>, 722 F.2d 740, 647 (11th Cir. 1983). Indeed, in <u>Ford v. Strickland</u>, 696 F.2d 804 (11th Cir. 1983), <u>en banc</u>, the court in the course of its opinion had occasion to comment on the instructions given by the state trial judge at the penalty phase of the trial. Please note:

> Instructing the jury on aggravating circumstances, the trial judge stated, "[y]ou shall consider only the following . ., and read the statutory language. With regard to mitigating circumstances, he said, "[y]ou shall consider the following . .," omitting the word "only" and again reading the appropriate statutory language. Ford neither objected to the instruction at trial nor raised it on direct appeal.

Id. at 811, 812. And again, in <u>Alvord v. Wainwright</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ F.2d \_\_\_\_[(11th Cir. 1984), opinion filed February 10, 1984], the above language was quoted with approval. Slip op., at 34.

The sentencing instructions for use at the penalty phase of a capital trial were not adopted until February 4, 1976, almost a year subsequent to appellant's trial. <u>In re Standard Jury</u> <u>Instructions in Criminal Cases</u>, 327 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1976). The instructions adopted May 27, 1970 were prior to <u>Furman v.</u> <u>Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), and not relevant to the issue. In the final analysis, however, the alleged error must be deemed harmless because the jury returned an advisory recommendation of life imprisonment for appellant. This is the best it could do for him. <u>North v. State</u>, 65 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1952) (harmless error statute applies in capital cases).

- 50 -

#### **ISSUE VI**

## THERE IS NO ERROR IN THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS AT EITHER THE GUILT OR SENTENCING PHASE.

It is urged that the trial judge erred in giving the first degree felony murder instruction without any definition of the enumerated felonies. The basis for this contention is that there was no evidence of any enumerated felony. This goes wide of the mark. The trial judge found--so did this court--that the murder was committed while appellant was engaged in the commission of a kidnapping. The instructions given by the trial judge were thoroughly discussed at the charge conference and it was finally determined that the instruction on felony murder should be given (Tr. 1976, line 16--1980, line 3). There was no objection by any defense counsel. The instructions agreed upon were the ones given and as noted earlier there were no objections of defense counsel (Tr. 2136, 2244, 2245).

The trial judge did not give an attempt instruction and there was no request that he do so. In fact, the express approval given to the instructions as given constitute an approval of the trial judge's not giving any attempt instruction. After all, the crime was completed and no attempt instruction was required. <u>Burney v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); <u>State v. Strasser</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. 1983), 8 FLW 407; <u>Dobbert v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1976). As to appellant's claim that the wounds he inflicted on Stephen Orlando were superficial, please see the testimony of Dr. Schwartz referred to earlier in this brief.

There was no shift of the burden of proof as claimed by appellant. Arango v. State, 411 So.2d 172, 174 (Fla. 1982). Appellant claims, however, that the trial judge did not instruct the jury that the reasonable doubt standard applied. Notwithstanding appellant's assertion to the contrary, his trial counsel did not object to any alleged failure of the trial judge to instruct on reasonable doubt. Mr. Buttner's complaint was that in his opinion he didn't believe that a sufficient explanation was given as to what the word "outweigh" means. Mr. Buttner was apprehensive that the wording of the proposed instruction--whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist which outweigh any aggravating circumstances--would create a presumption necessary to be overcome by the defendant (Post.T.Vol.I, p. 19, line 7--20, line 2). The process of weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances, if any, is a matter for the judge and jury, and unlike facts, it is not susceptible to proof by either the prosecution or defense. Ford v. Strickland, 676 F.2d 434 (11th Cir. 1982). As noted supra, there were no capital sentencing instructions to be given at the penalty phase at the time of appellant's trial, there was no "reasonable doubt instruction" to be used at the penalty phase. True, State v. Dixon, supra, was on the books at that time. But <u>Dixon</u> does not require the giving of additional instructions; it

- 52 -

simply states "they [aggravating circumstances] must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt before being considered by judge or jury." Appellee reads <u>Dixon</u> as holding that evidence of aggravating circumstances submitted by the prosecution must meet the same standard of proof that any other evidence would have to meet, <u>i.e.</u>, the evidence must be sufficient to prove the issue for which it was submitted beyond a reasonable doubt. Although a capital trial is a bifurcated one, it is still one trial. In the complete instructions given at the guilt stage of the trial, the trial judge emphasized the reasonable doubt standard twenty seven (27) times; in his explanation of the verdict forms it was emphasized three times; and the instructions repeated at the request of the jury, four times. The jury was never instructed as to any other standard of proof.

Appellant's position is untenable because he confuses the procedural with the substantive. Substantively, no defendant may be convicted under the Florida death penalty statute without proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Due process entitles a defendant to nothing more. The aggravating and mitigating circumstances are relevant only as a guide to the jury for the purpose of making an advisory recommendation to the trial judge. But those aggravating and mitigating circumstances do not come into play until after a capital defendant has been convicted and such conviction cannot be obtained without proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the capital crime. This necessarily amounts

- 53 -

to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the underlying aggravating circumstances. It is submitted that the jury's verdict returned against appellant is irrefutable proof that the aggravating circumstances were proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

This precise issue was raised on cross-appeal by petitioner in <u>Henry v. Wainwright</u>, 721 F.2d 990 (5th Cir., Unit B 1983). Please note:

> On cross appeal, Henry first contends that the district judge erred in finding harmless the failure of the trial judge to instruct the jury that aggravating circumstances must be found beyond a reasonable doubt. For the failure to give the instruction to be harmless, the evidence must be so overwhelming that the omission beyond a reasonable doubt did not contribute to the verdict. See, e.g., Brooks v. Francis, 716 F.2d 780 at 794 (11th Cir. 1983). The district judge accurately noted that the evidence of the aggravating circumstances (murder while committing robbery, especially heinous and cruel murder, and pecuniary gain) was overwhelming. The jury never heard an instruction during the trial on any standard of proof other than beyond a reasonable doubt. And, in Florida, the judge, not the jury, imposes the final sentence. We conclude that the judge's failure to repeat his charge to the jury on the standard of proof could not have harmed Henry. [Footnote omitted.]

Id. at 995.

It is claimed that the trial judge erred in failing to instruct on nonstatutory mitigating facts. No such instruction was requested. As noted in <u>Henry</u>, 995, n. 5, this is not a case

in which the judge refused to give the charge; appellant's counsel never requested it. Appellant's claim of error under Lockett v. Ohio, supra, is based primarily on Washington v. Watkins, 655 F.2d 1346 (5th Cir. 1981). But the thrust of Lockett is that the "sentencer ... [must] not be precluded from considering, as a mitigating factor, any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense that the defendant proffers as a basis for a sentence less than death." 438 U.S., at 604. Appellant does not claim that he was "precluded" from submitting any evidence he so desired to the jury as a basis for a sentence less than death. The Eleventh Circuit in Ford, 696 F.2d 804, 811-813 (1983), rejected this issue and distinguished Washington v. Watkins, supra. See also Straight v. Wainwright, 422 So.2d 827, 829-830 (Fla. 1982), rejecting the contention that an instruction which tracked the language of § 921.141(6), Florida Statutes (1975), fails to apprise the jury of its right and duty to consider any factor in mitigation shown by the evidence. Indeed, this court has several times rejected the contention that Florida's capital felony sentencing law and jury instructions limit consideration to statutory mitigating circumstances. Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1981), cert.denied, 451 U.S. 964; Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978) (on rehearing), cert.denied, 441 U.S. 956 (1979). Appellant's reliance Pait v. State, 112 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1959), for fundamental error is not well taken. Pait was

reversed because of inflammatory remarks by the prosecutor; had nothing whatsoever to do with any alleged failure to instruct on nonstatutory mitigating circumstances in the penalty phase of a capital trial.

In summary, appellant approved the instructions given at the penalty phase, never requested that any instruction be given on nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, and did not introduce any mitigating evidence at the penalty phase. The trial judge correctly instructed the jury that they could consider all evidence introduced at the penalty phase and apply the statutory aggravating and mitigating factors thereto in determining their advisory verdict.

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